IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Case No.: SC10-868

Fourth DCA Case No.: 4D09-4140

WILLIE E. BROWN and BRENDA BROWN, husband and wife,

Petitioners,

v.

KIM J. NAGELHOUT, individually, HELENA CHEMICAL CO., INC., a foreign corporation, and CSX TRANSPORTATION, INC., a foreign corporation,

Respondents.

/

PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

Lincoln J. Connolly Fla. Bar No.: 0084719 ROSSMAN BAUMBERGER, REBOSO, SPIER & CONNOLLY, P.A. Counsel for the Petitioners, WILLIE E. BROWN and BRENDA BROWN 44 West Flagler Street, 23rd Floor Miami, FL 33130-1808 Ph: (305) 373-0708 Fax: (305) 577-4370 ljc@rbrlaw.com

STATEMENT OF THE CASE			
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT			
ARGUMEN	NT	3	
I.	FLORIDA'S VENUE STATUTES	3	
II.	THE FOURTH DISTRICT'S DECISION EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THIS COURT'S HOLDING IN <i>ENFINGER</i>	4	
III.	THE FOURTH DISTRICT'S DECISION ALSO EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL	7	
CONCLUS	ION	10	
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE			
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH FONT REQUIREMENTS			

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Alladin Ins. Agency, Inc. v. Jones, 687 So.2d 937 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997)	9			
Doonan v. Poole, 114 So.2d 504 (Fla. 2d DCA 1959)	8			
Enfinger v. Baxley, 96 So.2d 538 (Fla. 1957)	passim			
Ford Motor Co. v. Kikis, 401 So.2d 1341 (Fla. 1981)	6-7			
Reliable Elec. Distrib. Co., Inc. v. Walter E. Heller & Co. of La., Inc., 382 So.2d 1287 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980)	9			
Sinclair Fund, Inc. v. Burton, 623 So.2d 587 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993)	7			
Walden Leasing, Inc. v. Modicamore, 559 So.2d 656 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990)	7			
Wallace v. Dean, 3 So.3d 1035 (Fla. 2009)	6, 7, 10			
Constitutional Provisions, Statutes, and Rules				
Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const.	2, 10			
§ 46.01, Fla. Stat.	4			
§ 46.02, Fla. Stat.	4			
§ 47.011, Fla. Stat.	2, 3, 4			
§ 47.021, Fla. Stat.	passim			
Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv)				

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This proceeding arises from a trial court order granting a motion to transfer venue from Broward County to Pasco County. That order was affirmed by the Fourth District Court of Appeal, in a decision that is in express and direct conflict both with a decision of this Court, and with decisions of three other district courts of appeal.

The Petitioners in this case, Willie E. Brown and Brenda Brown ("the Browns"), filed suit in Broward County against the Respondents, Helena Chemical Company, Inc. ("Helena Chemical Co."), CSX Transportation, Inc. ("CSX"), and Kim Nagelhout ("Nagelhout"), due to a collision that occurred in Pasco County. Nagelhout resided in Pasco County and Helena Chemical Co. had a (A. 1) business residence in that county. (A. 2) But CSX did not share Pasco County as a residence, and had its principal place of business in Duval County. (A. 2) The Respondents filed a motion to transfer venue to Pasco County based upon the joint residency rule established in *Enfinger v. Baxley*, 96 So.2d 538 (Fla. 1957), which motion the Browns opposed because "the joint residency rule does not apply where all defendants do not share a county of residence." (A. 2) The trial court granted a transfer of the case to Pasco County and was affirmed by the Fourth District on appeal, citing Enfinger. (A. 1-2) As stated by the district court, "under the joint

residency rule articulated in *Enfinger*, venue lies in Pasco County, which is the common county of residence between Nagelhout and Helena Chemical."¹ (A. 2 (citing *Enfinger*, 96 So.2d at 540-41; *Lifemark Hosps. of Fla., Inc. v. Roque*, 727 So.2d 1077, 1078 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999))

The district court's decision was rendered on April 7, 2010 and the Browns' notice of invoking this Court's discretionary jurisdiction was timely filed on May 3, 2010. Thus, this case is properly before this Court. Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const.; Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court cited two venue statutes below. (A.2) Section 47.011, Fla. Stat., provides, *inter alia*, that suit may be filed where the defendant resides, and §

¹Because the opinion below does not discuss the ties of any Defendant/ Respondent to Broward County, we resist the temptation to explain why suit was filed there at this time. So this Court does not assume otherwise, however, we note that the opinion below does *not* suggest that none of the Defendants/Respondents also have a residence in Broward County for purposes of venue under Florida law. This Court's jurisdiction is dependent upon the district court's erroneous affirmance of a transfer to a county which all three Defendants do not share as a common residence, which decision is in express and direct conflict both with this Court's decision in *Enfinger* and with the decisions of three other district courts of appeal which properly abide *Enfinger*. Because the opinion below does not suggest that the transfer was due to any impropriety in the Browns filing suit in Broward County to begin with, however, its failure to mention or comment upon the Browns' basis for filing suit in Broward County is not a matter which affects this Court's jurisdiction.

47.021, Fla. Stat., provides, *inter alia*, that where all defendants do not reside in the same county, suit may be filed in any county in which any defendant is resident.

In *Enfinger v. Baxley*, 96 So.2d 538 (Fla. 1957), this Court established the joint residency rule, holding that where all defendants share one county of residence, suit must be filed in that county, even if a corporate defendant (which can have multiple residences) also resides in another county. The court below held that because two of the three defendants share Pasco County as a residence, the joint residency rule applies under *Enfinger*. (A. 1, 2) That holding expressly and directly conflicts with *Enfinger*, because all three defendants are not residents of Pasco County.

The decision below also expressly and directly conflicts with decisions of the courts of appeal of the First, Second, and Third districts, all of which have properly applied *Enfinger* to hold that where all defendants do not share one county of residence, the joint residency rule does not apply and the plaintiff may sue them in any county in which one of them has residence under § 47.021, Fla. Stat.

This Court should exercise its jurisdiction to correct the conflict between the decision below and the decisions of this Court and of three other district courts.

ARGUMENT

-3-

I. FLORIDA'S VENUE STATUTES

There are two venue statutes relied upon by the district court below in this case. Section 47.011, Fla. Stat., provides in relevant part that "[a]ctions shall be brought only in the county where the defendant resides...." (A. 2) But because CSX does not share Pasco County as a residence with Nagelhout and Helena Chemical Co., the district court also referenced section 47.021, Fla. Stat., which provides in relevant part that "[a]ctions against two or more defendants residing in different counties may be brought in any county in which any defendant resides." *Id.* (A. 2)

II. THE FOURTH DISTRICT'S DECISION EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THIS COURT'S HOLDING IN ENFINGER

In *Enfinger v. Baxley*, 96 So.2d 538 (Fla. 1957), this Court established the joint residency rule, which holds that where a corporate defendant has multiple counties of residence for purposes of venue (due to its fictional status as a corporation, which enables it to be resident in multiple places), but all defendants have at least one residence in common, venue must be laid in that county of shared, or joint, residence. *Id.* There were only two defendants in *Enfinger*, a human (Enfinger) who resided in Polk County, and his corporate employer (Atlantic), who was resident in both Polk County and Duval County. *Id.* at 539. Because one of

Atlantic's residences was different than Enfinger's, the plaintiff (Baxley) argued that venue was proper in Duval County under § 46.02, Fla. Stat. (the predecessor to § 47.021, Fla. Stat.),² because both defendants had "different" counties of residence. This Court decided otherwise. "Here, [Atlantic] 'resides' in Polk County as well as in Duval County. So the question here is whether the individual defendant and the corporate defendant reside 'in different counties' within the meaning of Section [47.021]. We have concluded that they do not." *Enfinger*, 96 So.2d at 540.

Section [47.021] . . . gives a plaintiff the right to make the final choice of the forum in which his suit will be tried as between the conflicting interests of defendants whose venue privileges . . . do not fall within the same county. *The applicability of the statute* [47.021] *is clear where the venue privileges of the defendants are coequal and not coexistent in the same county*. Here, however, *both defendants* 'reside' in Polk County, even though the corporate defendant may also be said to 'reside' in Duval County.... *In this situation*, we do not think Section [47.021] should be applied to give a plaintiff the right to choose the forum in which to bring his suit.

Id. (emphasis added) (citation omitted). Contrary to the district court's conclusion below, the joint residency rule as established in *Enfinger* only disables a plaintiff's right under § 47.021 to sue in any county in which any defendant is resident where

²Substantively, the statutes are the same for our purposes here, as § 46.01, Fla. Stat., is to its current version, § 47.011, Fla. Stat. We hereafter take the liberty of substituting the current versions' citations in brackets in their predecessors'

all defendants share a common residence–if they do not *all* share a residence, § 47.021 applies and venue is proper in any county in which any defendant resides. *Enfinger*, 96 So.2d at 540. Again, as stated by this Court, "[t]he applicability of the statute [47.021, allowing venue to be laid in any county in which any defendant is resident] is *clear* where the venue privileges of the defendants are coequal *and not co-existent in the same county*." *Id.* (emphasis added).

Despite this clear holding in *Enfinger*, and despite the fact that the Respondents' venue privileges in this case are not "co-existent in the same county" because only two of the Respondents have a Pasco County residence, the district court below held that:

[i]n this case, the Browns incorrectly argue that the joint residency rule does not apply where all defendants do not share a county of residence. The trial court found that (a) the Browns resided in Broward County; (b) Nagelhout resided in Pasco County; (c) Helena Chemical had a business residence in Pasco County; and (d) CSX's principal place of residence was in Duval County.... Given these facts, Nagelhout has a venue privilege in Pasco County, and he maintains this venue privilege even though he was sued together with Helena Chemical and CSX. *See Enfinger*, 96 So.2d at 539-41. Therefore, under the joint residency rule articulated in *Enfinger*, venue lies in Pasco County, which is the common county of residence *between Nagelhout and Helena Chemical*.

(A. 2 (citing Enfinger, 96 So.2d at 540-41; Lifemark Hosps. of Fla., Inc. v. Roque,

stead.

727 So.2d 1077, 1078 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) (emphasis added))

By holding that the joint residency rule applies when some-but not alldefendants share a county of residence, the decision below expressly and directly conflicts with this Court's decision in *Enfinger* by announcing a contrary rule of law where a human defendant and one, but not all, corporate defendants share a county of residence,³ *see, e.g, Wallace v. Dean*, 3 So.3d 1035, 1039 & n.4 (Fla. 2009); *Ford Motor Co. v. Kikis*, 401 So.2d 1341 (Fla. 1981), or by misapplying *Enfinger*'s joint residency rule where all defendants do not share a county of residence. *See, e.g., Wallace*, 3 So.3d at 1040 & n.6. Accordingly, the Browns respectfully submit that this Court should exercise jurisdiction due to this clear express and direct conflict with *Enfinger* to correct the law in this state as to the joint residency rule where all defendants do not share one common county of

³That is, the district court appears to have concluded that it is not the fact that *all defendants* shared a residence that mattered in *Enfinger*, but instead that the magical combination of one human and one corporation sharing a residence was what mattered, regardless of the uncommon residence of the third defendant, CSX, in this case. (A. 2) Such a "one human/one corporation" rationale has no basis in *Enfinger* (other than the coincidence that *Enfinger* only involved two defendants, one of each type), and therefore the decision below announces a rule of law in express and direct conflict with *Enfinger*'s holding. *See also Sinclair Fund, Inc. v. Burton*, 623 So.2d 587 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993); *Walden Leasing, Inc. v. Modicamore*, 559 So.2d 656 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990) (two earlier Fourth District decisions also appearing to apply this "one human/one corporation" rule in conflict with *Enfinger*).

residence.

III. THE FOURTH DISTRICT'S ALSO DECISION CONFLICTS EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY WITH OF OTHER DISTRICT DECISIONS COURTS OF **APPEAL**

As noted, below the Fourth District interpreted *Enfinger*'s joint residency rule to require that this case be transferred to Pasco County even though one of the defendants, CSX, did not have a residence in that county. Not only does that ruling expressly and directly conflict with *Enfinger*, but it also expressly and directly conflicts with decisions of the First, Second, and Third district courts of appeal.

First, in *Doonan v. Poole*, 114 So.2d 504 (Fla. 2d DCA 1959), the plaintiff sued two Saint Lucie County residents and a Broward County resident in Broward County. The trial court dismissed the case as to the Saint Lucie County resident defendants for improper venue. 114 So.2d at 505. The Second District reversed, ordering the action to proceed in Broward County as to all three defendants because "Section [47.021] gives the plaintiff the right to elect between St. Lucie County and Broward County," *id.* at 506, and holding that because all three defendants did not share a common residence, *Enfinger*'s joint residency rule "is not determinative of the present issue." *Id.*

Next, in *Reliable Elec. Distrib. Co., Inc. v. Walter E. Heller & Co. of La., Inc.*, 382 So.2d 1287 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980), a plaintiff sued a corporate defendant, REDCO, and two individuals in Bay County. REDCO was not a resident of Bay County, but "[t]here is no contention that the individual defendants are not residents of and properly sued in Bay County." *Id.* The First District affirmed the denial of a motion to change venue for failure to sue in REDCO's county of residence, holding "[t]his question was answered by the Florida Supreme Court in *Enfinger* . . ., wherein the court held that [§] 47.021 prevails over, and is a qualification of, the venue privilege afforded under [§] 47.051 [providing venue for suits against corporations in counties where they have offices, agents, or representatives]...." *Id.* at 1288.

Finally, the Third District in *Alladin Ins. Agency, Inc. v. Jones*, 687 So.2d 937 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997), held that the joint residency rule does not apply where all defendants do not share one county as a common residence, and affirmed the denial of a motion to transfer venue to Manatee County. The court wrote, "Alladin is a Florida corporation with its office in Manatee County while Premium is a Florida corporation with its office in Leon County. Allstate is a foreign corporation with agents in numerous counties, including Leon, Manatee, and Dade." 687 So.2d at 939. "There is no county of residence which is common to

all three defendants. Under *Enfinger*, this means that section 47.021 becomes operative, and the plaintiff had the privilege of bringing suit in any county in which any defendant resides. Since Allstate resides in Dade County, venue is proper in Dade County." *Id*.

Where, as here, there is no common county of residence the plaintiff is allowed to make the venue selection. As the Florida Supreme Court has said, the plaintiff "has the right to make the final choice of the forum in which its suit will be tried as between . . . defendants whose venue privileges . . . do not fall within the same county."

The trial court correctly ruled that because there is no county of common residence, Dade County is a permissible venue.

Id. (emphasis added) (quoting Enfinger, 96 So.2d at 539) (other citation omitted).

Enfinger holds that where all defendants share a common county of residence, venue based upon residence is only proper in that county, even if some of them also have residency in other counties—but if they do not share one county of residence, the choice among them is the plaintiff's under § 47.021, Fla. Stat. 96 So.2d at 540. The decisions of the First, Second, and Third district courts of appeal cited *supra* correctly follow *Enfinger*, accurately conclude that venue is not a matter of counting heads decided by majority rule, and properly hold that *Enfinger*'s joint residency rule only applies where *all* defendants share the same residence, not where some but not all do. By affirming a transfer to Pasco County

under the joint residency rule despite CSX not being a resident of that county, the decision below expressly and directly conflicts with the decisions of these three other districts, and affords this Court not only the jurisdictional basis to review the decision below, *see*, *e.g.*, *Wallace*, 3 So.3d at 1039-40, but also furnishes this Court with the prudential impetus to correct the lack of uniformity which has developed among the district courts of appeal in this state on the issues of venue and the proper application of the joint residency rule.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Browns respectfully submit that this Court has and should exercise jurisdiction to review the decision below under Article 5, section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution.