IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC10-868

Florida Bar No. 184170

WILLIE E. BROWN, and)
BRENDA BROWN, husband and)
wife,)
Petitioners,)
v.)

KIM J. NAGELHOUT, individually)
HELENA CHEMICAL CO., INC.,)
a foreign corporation, and)
CSX TRANSPORTATION, INC.,
a foreign corporation,

Respondents.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS ON JURISDICTION

KIM J. NAGELHOUT, and HELENA CHEMICAL CO., INC. a foreign corporation

(With Appendix)

Law Offices of RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A. Richard A. Sherman, Sr., Esquire James W. Sherman, Esquire Suite 302 1777 South Andrews Avenue Fort Lauderdale, FL 33316 (954) 525-5885 - Broward

and

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

As we indicate later in the Brief, there is no express and direct conflict with other Opinions, but only different facts.

In an attempt to create express and direct conflict jurisdiction when there is none, Petitioners are required by the appellate rules and Florida Construction to limit the facts and the argument, to the facts as outlined in the Opinion, and the holdings of other cases. Instead, the Petitioners imply there are other facts the court did not put in the Opinion which would create express and direct conflict jurisdiction with different cases, which themselves have different facts.

However, by needing to go outside the face of the Opinion, and the holdings on the face of the existing caselaw, the Petitioners have underscored that there is no express and direct conflict, but simply different facts.

The facts in the present case were that a Complaint was filed in Broward County against Nagelhout, Helena Chemical, and CSX, which is based on multiple causes of action, and arose out of a collision which occurred in Pasco County. The trial court ruled that based on the facts, the venue was proper in Pasco County, and the Fourth District Court of Appeal agreed by written Opinion.

-1-

As indicated in the Opinion, the trial court found that the Browns resided in Broward County, Nagelhout resided in Pasco County, Helena Chemical had a business office in Pasco County, and CSX's principal place of business was in Duval County, and therefore the trial court and the Fourth District correctly ruled that based on these set of facts, the venue was proper in Pasco County.

Therefore, there is no express and direct conflict, but simply different facts then the cases the plaintiffs cite.

The facts as given in the Opinion are as follows:

The Browns appeal the trial court's order granting Kim J. Nagelhout, Helena Chemical Co., Inc., and CSX Transportation, Inc.'s motion to transfer venue from Broward County to Pasco County, Florida. We affirm.

The Browns filed a complaint in Broward County against Nagelhout, Helena Chemical, and CSX, alleging multiple causes or action for a collision that occurred in Pasco County. Nagelhout and Helena Chemical subsequently filed a motion to transfer venue from Broward County to Pasco County, and CSX joined in the motion. The trial court granted the motion to transfer venue, relying upon what is now known as the joint residency rule enunciated by the Florida Supreme Court in Enfinger v. Baxley, 96 So.2d 538 (Fla. 1957). The court concluded that venue lies in Pasco County because Nagelhout and Helena Chemical both reside there. On appeal, the Browns contend that the joint residency rule does not apply to the facts of this case.

-2-

L*V, OFFICES R.CHARD A. ^^^^, g. TEL. (954, **m SOUTH ««««» *-., FORT U***U**O«O~«.-■**

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

There is no express and direct conflict as is necessary for the extraordinary remedy of discretionary review. There are only different facts, which can not yield discretionary review.

ARGUMENT

THERE IS NO EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT AS IS NECESSARY FOR DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION; THE PETITIONERS ARE SIMPLY SEEKING A SECOND APPEAL ON THE MERITS.

The Petitioners go into a discussion of the facts which were favorable to them, and additionally they ignore the facts which were unfavorable to them, and even **imply that there are other facts outside the face of the Opinion** which would make the decision by the trial judge and the Fourth District incorrect.

Nowhere is there a crisp discussion of issues of law which are in express and direct conflict with another case, which is necessary for discretionary review. It is therefore apparent that the Petitioners are simply seeking a second appeal on the merits, which the Florida Supreme Court has repeatedly said it will not do.

The jurisdiction of the Supreme Court derives from Art. 5 § 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution, which states that the

-3-

"May review any decision of a district court of appeal... that <u>expressly</u> and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law..." (Emphasis supplied).

The function of the Supreme Court in regard to conflict jurisdiction has long been to resolve conflicting points of law, and not to function as a second appeal on the merits. <u>Ansin v. Thurston</u>, 101 So. 2d 808 (Fla. 1958); <u>Karlin v. City of Miami</u>, 113 So. 2d 551 (Fla. 1959); Jenkins v. State, 385 So. 2d 1356 (Fla. 1980).

The decision of the Fourth District in the present case does not create a rule of law which is in conflict with the rule of law in other cases,- it merely holds that in this factual situation, the ruling of the trial court was correct. There is no "express and direct conflict."

It is therefore apparent that the Petitioners are just aggrieved because they lost in the trial court, and also in the Fourth District. There is no "express" conflict. The Petitioners' Brief is merely an attempt to reargue the facts, and to reargue the same points raised in the Fourth District. It is therefore apparent that what the Petitioners are really seeking

-4-

is a second appeal on the merits. The Petition for Certiorari must be denied.

The facts in <u>Enfinger v. Baxley</u>, 96 So. 2d 538 (Fla. 1957) were that the defendants were an individual, and his employer, Atlantic Coastline, and the individual's county residence was Polk County, and Atlantic had an agent who did business in both Polk and Duval. Suit was filed by the plaintiffs in Duval County and the defendant moved to dismiss for improper venue, saying it should have been filed in Polk County.

The Florida Supreme Court held that since both share a county of residence, suit must be in that county of residence:

... The applicability of the statute is clear where the venue privileges of the defendants are coequal and not coexistent in the same county. Here, however both defendants 'reside' in Polk County, even though the corporate defendant may also be said to 'reside' in Duval County. If sued alone, the defendant corporation would have no greater right, under Section 46.04, to be sued in Duval County than in Polk County since it has an agent in both counties; but the individual defendant if sued alone would have the privilege, under Section 46.01, of being sued in Polk County. In this situation, we do not think Section 46.02 should be applied to give to a plaintiff the right to choose the forum in which to bring his suit. ^xThe right of a plaintiff to have an action tried in another county than that in which the defendant has his residence is exceptional, and, if the plaintiff would claim such right, he must

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P. A. SUITE 302, 1777 SOUTH ANDREWS AVE., FORT LAUDERDALE, FLA. 33316 • TEL. (954) 525 - 5885

bring himself within the terms of the exception.' Brady v. Times-Mirror Co., 106 CAL. 56, 39 P. 209, 210.

Enfinger, 540.

Therefore, there is no express and direct conflict, but only different facts than the present Opinion. Further, the Petitioners implying there are other facts outside of the face of the Complaint which may make the decision wrong if the facts were known, is not accurate and is improper. There simply is no express and direct conflict as is necessary for the extraordinary remedy of discretionary review, and it is clear that the Petitioners are simply seeking a second appeal on the merits.

Similarly, the Petitioners contend there is express and direct conflict between the decision in the present case and the case of <u>Doonan v. Poole</u>, 114 So. 2d 504 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1959). However, there is no express and direct conflict with <u>Doonan</u>, because that case held that where all three defendants were individuals, and two resided in St. Lucie County, and one resided in Broward, suit could be brought by the plaintiffs against the defendants in either Broward or St. Lucie County.

Therefore, once again, there is no express and direct conflict with <u>Doonan</u>, since in <u>Doonan</u> there was not a corporate defendant which is required under Florida law to trigger the <u>Enfinger v. Baxley</u> residency exception. Once again, it is apparent there is no express and direct conflict, and the Petitioners are simply seeking second appeal on the merits.

The Petitioners also rely on <u>Reliable Electrical Distribution</u> <u>Company, Inc. v. Walter Heller and Company of Louisiana, Inc.</u>, 382 So. 2d 1287 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980), but once again there is no express and direct conflict, but only different facts. The holding in <u>Reliable</u> was that where two individual defendants share a common county residence, but a corporation is not a resident of that same county, a lawsuit may be brought in any county in which all defendants reside. Both of the individuals undisputedly resided in Dade County, and since in <u>Reliable</u> the two individual defendants shared a common county of residence, these are different facts than the present case. Once again, there is no express and direct conflict.

It is important also to bear in mind that the purpose of the Florida Statutes relating to proper venue and change of venue are to have actions brought in the forum that will cause the least amount of inconvenience and expense to the parties, which in this case is clearly Pasco County. <u>Premier Cruise Lines, Ltd., Inc. v. Gavrilis</u>, 554 So. 2d 659 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990); <u>Kilpatrick v. Boynton</u>, 374 So. 2d 557 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979); Gaboury v. Flacrler

-7-

Hospital, Inc., 316 So. 2d 642 (Fla. 4th DCA 1975); <u>Goodvear Tire and</u> <u>Rubber Company v. Mann</u>, 285 So. 2d 681 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1973), <u>reversed</u> <u>on other grounds</u>, 300 So. 2d 666 (Fla. 1974) ,- <u>Allen v. Summers</u>, 273 So. 2d 13 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1973); <u>England v. Cook</u>, 256 So. 2d 403 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1972); <u>Polar Ice Cream & Creamery Company v. Andrews</u>, 146 So. 2d 609 (Fla. 1st DCA 1962) .

The plaintiff relies on the case of <u>Alladin Insurance Agency</u>, <u>Inc. v. Jones</u>, 687 So. 2d 937 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1997), but once again that case does not create express and direct conflict because there were simply different facts. <u>Alladin</u> holds that where all defendants in a case have a common county of residence, the suit is only appropriate in that county. Therefore, there is no express and direct conflict with the decision in the present case, since in <u>Alladin</u> there was no individual defendant, but rather three corporations.

Once again, it is apparent there is no express and direct conflict, but only different facts.

In summary, it is clear there is no express and direct conflict and the Petitioners are simply aggrieved that the trial court correctly applied the law to the change of venue question, and the three-judge appellate panel of the Fourth District Court of Appeal also correctly applied the law. Therefore, there is no express and direct conflict as is necessary for discretionary review, but only different facts, and therefore the Petition for Discretionary Review must be denied.

CONCLUSION

There is no express and direct conflict as is necessary for discretionary review, but only different facts, and therefore the Petition for Discretionary Review must be denied.

> Law Offices of RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A. Richard A. Sherman, Sr., Esquire James W. Sherman, Esquire Suite 302 17 7 7 South Andrews Avenue Fort Lauderdale, FL 33316 (954) 525-5885 - Broward

and

David B. Goulfine, Esquire HIGHTOWER & PARTNERS Orlando, FL